# FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MATHEW DALE BOYETT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,971

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### 1. Procedural Progress of the Case

On August 25, 1992, an Escambia County grand jury indicted Matthew Dale Boyett for first degree murder for the shooting death of Billy Charles Hyter and for burglary of a dwelling. (R 1-2) The murder count alleged both premeditated and/or felony murder with the burglary as the underlying felony. (R 1-2) Boyett proceeded to a jury trial commencing on February 22, 1993. (TR 1) At the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict for first degree premeditated murder and/or felony murder as charged in the indictment. (R 137, TR 427) The jury also found Boyett guilty of the burglary count as charged. (R 138, TR 428) Boyett had requested a verdict form requiring the jury to specify whether the finding of guilt for first degree murder was based on premeditation or felony murder theories. (TR 350) However, the court denied the request. (TR 350)

The defense presented additional evidence during the penalty phase of the case. (TR 429-557) The prosecution relied solely on the evidence presented at the guilt phase. (TR 429) The jury recommended a life sentence. (R 144, TR 603)

Circuit Judge Nickolas P. Geeker overrode the jury's life recommendation, and on May 14, 1993, sentenced Boyett to death for the murder. (R 236-237, 246, 260-267)<sup>1</sup> On the burglary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Two sentencing orders appear in the record. (R 253-259). The first one omitted paragraph number ten under the section discussing nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. (R 258). An amended order was filed on the same day to correct this mistake. (R 260-267).

conviction, the court sentenced Boyett to eight years imprisonment. (R 236-237, 247) In support of the death sentence, the court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicide was committed during a burglary; and (2) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 261-262) Regarding mitigation, the court specifically rejected three statutory mitigating circumstances. (R 262-263) First, the court acknowledged Boyett's mental and emotional disturbance at the time of the crime but concluded this disturbance was not extreme and did not qualify as a statutory factor. (R 262) Second, the court found no evidence supported a claim that Boyett was under the substantial domination of another or acted under extreme duress. (R 263) Third, Boyett was eighteen years old at the time of the crime. (R 263) The court rejected age as mitigating circumstance. (R 263) In a separate section of the sentencing findings, the court noted 12 possible nonstatutory mitigating factors and found five of them established by the evidence. (R 263-265) Specifically, the court found Boyett suffered from long-term substance abuse (paragraph # 2); was sexually abused as a child (paragraph # 3); exhibited good behavior while in custody (paragraph # 4); expressed remorse for the crime (paragraph # 6); and he had an unstable, broken family life (paragraph # 10). (R 263-265)

On June 14, 1993, Boyett filed his notice of appeal. (R 271)

#### 2. Facts -- Guilt Phase

Debra Sherwood was visiting her friend, Beverly Solomonic, who lives on Memphis Avenue in Pensacola. (Tr 228-229, 233). Ms.

Sherwood was cleaning her van in the driveway of the residence around 9:30 a.m. on August 5, 1992. (Tr 229, 233-234). At that time, she saw Bill Hyter, the neighbor who lived across the street, walking across the street leaning on a baseball bat. (Tr 230). Hyter was bleeding from his mouth and said that he had been shot. (Tr 230). He insisted he was dying. (Tr 230). Sherwood called for assistance. (Tr 230). Solomonic tried to help Hyter, but he refused to sit down, stating he could not breath. (Tr 235). Hyter kept spitting up blood and stating that he was going to die. (Tr 235-236). He paced in the yard although he was having difficulty staying on his feet. (Tr 238). finally sat down in the front yard. (Tr 231, 238). Hyter said that Dale Boyett had shot him (Tr 236-237), and that he had used a handgun. (Tr 232, 236-237). Hyter also said that Boyett was there in his house to rob him. (Tr 232). Stan Wehmeiter with the Escambia County Sheriff's Department arrived. (Tr 239-240). asked Hyter who had shot him. (Tr 240). Hyter again said that Dale Boyett did it and had tried to rob him. (Tr 240). The only description Hyter gave of Boyett was that he was a white male. Wehmeiter secured the scene and waited for 241). investigators to arrive. (Tr 242).

Later on August 5th, John Larzarchick, an assistant medical examiner, performed an autopsy on Bill Hyter. (Tr 262-263). He found a single gunshot entry wound in the mid portion of the right bicep. (Tr 263). The bullet entered the right bicep, moved into the armpit, and then into the right lung cavity. (Tr 263). After the bullet deflected into the lung, it ricochet off of the backbone and reentered the lung. (Tr 265). One of the major

blood vessels in the area of the right shoulder was destroyed. (Tr 266). The pulmonary artery, which supplies the right lung, was damaged. (Tr 266-267). Hyter died from internal bleeding. (Tr 268). Based on the angle of the entry wound, the pathologist concluded that the arm was at a 45-60 degree angle and slightly downward at the time of the wound. (Tr 270-271). He estimated that Hyter was standing slightly sideways with his arm out in slightly downward position at the time of the shooting. (Tr 271). The medical examiner also concluded that the gun was probably at least 3 to 4 feet away from Hyter at the time of the shot. (Tr 272).

Deputy Jim Powell assisted in securing the crime scene and then began looking for Dale Boyett. (Tr 244-245). He found Boyett in a trailer a short distance away and took him into custody. (Tr 245). After advising Boyett of his rights under Miranda, Powell said there was something they needed to talk to him about. (Tr 246). Boyett responded, "I know what you want to talk about. The guy named Bill I shot today." (Tr 246). investigating officer, O'Neal, continued the Tom questioning. (Tr 246). Later, Powell accompanied Boyett back to the area around the crime scene. (Tr 246-247). Their purpose was to recover a weapon in the woods between Hyter's home and a nearby highway. (Tr 249). Powell sat with Boyett automobile while some of the investigators were inside the residence. (Tr 247). At that time, Boyett told Powell that Hyter had made sexual advances to him. (Tr 247). Hyter had touched him on the outside of his clothes and he was upset about it. (Tr 247). Powell noticed that Boyett seemed like there was something

else he wanted to talk about. (Tr 247). Boyett then said that he had been over there at Hyter's house on a prior occasion drinking and had passed out. (Tr 247-248). When he awoke, Hyter was on top of him performing oral sex on him. (Tr 248). A fight ensued over this involving a whiskey bottle and sword. He said during the fight with the sword and whiskey bottle, both received Boyett's father, Dearma William Boyett, wounds. (Tr 251). confirmed that about six weeks prior to the shooting, Dale had an injury on his arm. (Tr 320). Dale indicated that some people had jumped him. (Tr 320-321). Powell said that Boyett did not indicate how long before the shooting incident this occurred, but it had apparently been several weeks. (Tr 248). Powell also stated that in his initial contact with Boyett that he did not know that Hyter had died, and the first indication that Boyett had about Hyter's death was when Powell told him. (Tr 250).

Investigator Tom O'Neill took a full confession from Boyett in the afternoon of August 5. (Tr 293-319). Boyett explained that he had met Bill Hyter when a friend invited him to go to Hyter's house to smoke pot and drink alcohol. (Tr 308). Over the next six months, Boyett went to Hyter's house six or seven times. (Tr 308-309). He did not have a sexual relationship with Hyter. (Tr 304). Their visits involved talking, drinking and smoking marijuana. (Tr 308). On two occasions, Hyter made sexual advances to Boyett. (Tr 309). The first time, both of them were drunk and the confrontation ended up in a argument and a fight involving a liquor bottle and a sword. (Tr 309). Boyett said he received a cut on his arm. (Tr 318-319). Boyett realized that both of them were drunk at the time, and he went back to Hyter's

house to talk it over. (Tr 310). He said that he and Hyter agreed that they were both drunk, and the incident should not have occurred. (Tr 310). However, during the same meeting, Hyter again made sexual advances to Boyett. (Tr 310). Boyett left after Hyter refused to stop his advances. (Tr 310, 314-315).

Boyett was emotionally disturbed over the incident and over the next five to six weeks, he continued to be bothered by Hyter's behavior toward him. (Tr 314-315). Boyett said he found a .22 caliber pistol, and upon seeing the gun, he said it "clicked" that he was going to use the gun to shoot Bill Hyter. (Tr 310). He planned it out for a couple of weeks. (Tr 313). His intention was to shoot Hyter to make him miserable. (TR 311-313). He had no intent to kill Hyter. (Tr 312-313).

The night before the homicide, Boyett stayed in a motel not far from Hyter's house (Tr 304-305). On the morning of August 5, Boyett walked through a wooded area behind Hyter's house, climbed over a fence, and went through the unlocked back door of Hyter's residence. (Tr 303). Boyett held a gun on Hyter and talked to him, telling him his reasons for being there and for what he was about to do -- Hyter's aggressive sexual activity toward him. (Tr 303, 305-307). As he was talking, Hyter reached for a baseball bat. (Tr 307). Boyett told him to stop, but Hyter continued and grabbed the bat. (Tr 307). Boyett shot at Hyter's leg but missed. (Tr 307). Hyter continued toward Boyett with the bat, and Boyett shot Hyter again. (Tr 307). Hyter then fled. (Tr 307). Boyett ran back out through the back door and over the fence, discarding the pistol in the woods. (Tr 307). Boyett

continued to the motel where his truck was parked and drove to his friend's house. (Tr 307).

Crime scene investigator, Charlie Suarez, collected several items of evidence. (Tr 252-259). Because Boyett had told the officers about a second shot fired in the residence, Suarez looked around the fireplace and recovered a .22 caliber bullet which had struck the bricks in that area. (Tr 254). Boyett also led the officers to the .22 caliber revolver. (Tr 254). said the six-shot weapon had one empty chamber, two expended cartridges, and three live rounds still in the pistol. (Tr 254-Boyett also provided his shoes to be compared with shoe prints found in the backyard of the Hyter residence. (Tr 257). Suarez recovered the shirt Hyter was wearing. (Tr 253). the residence, investigators also found a receipt where Hyter had purchased a gun, but he had not yet picked it up because of the waiting period. (Tr 257). Also found in the residence were a number of personal items, jewelry, a wallet, and other items belonging to Hyter. (Tr 259). Hyter had recently purchased some window locks. (Tr 259). Suarez took an aluminum baseball bat into evidence. (Tr 259). Twelve commercially prepared videotapes evidence inside the Hyter residence. (Tr 258). An technician randomly selected four of the tapes, and all had explicit homosexual subject matter. (Tr 258-259).

Ed Love, an FDLE firearms' examiner, examined the pistol, bullet fragments and the shirt Hyter wore at the time of the shooting. (Tr 274-276). Based on a test firing of the pistol, he determined that gun powder residue would be deposited at a distance between 3 to 4 feet. (Tr 277). Since he did not find

any residue on the shirt, he concluded the firearm was in excess of 3 to 4 feet away at the time of the shot. (Tr 276-277). Love concluded that the projectile removed from Hyter was fired from the pistol he examined. (Tr 277-278). The bullet fragments which were collected inside the residence could not be compared to the firearm due to the condition of the fragments. (Tr 278). However, Love stated that the fragments had a copper coating similar to the other bullet recovered and the bullets from the unfired cartridges in the pistol. (Tr 279).

A friend of Boyett's, John Blackman, testified to statements Boyett made regarding the crime. (Tr 283-293). Blackman had known Dale for about three or four months prior to the homicide. 283). About one week before the murder, Boyett asked Blackman if he wanted to see the house of the man he was going to shoot. (Tr 285). As they drove by the house, Boyett told Blackman that he had had a run-in with the man earlier. (Tr 288). About six weeks before the murder, Boyett had shown Blackman a cut on his arm and stated that three black guys had jumped him. (Tr 290). Boyett did not mention anything to Blackman about the relationship he had with Bill Hyter. (Tr 291). The Monday night before the homicide occurred on Wednesday, Boyett spent the night at Blackman's residence. (Tr 287). Boyett stayed until about 5:00 or 6:00 Tuesday afternoon. (Tr 287). During this time, Boyett showed Blackman a .22 caliber revolver. (Tr 286). Boyett also asked Blackman to help him kill the man. (Tr 287). Blackman stated that Boyett specifically used the word "kill" at this time. (Tr 293). In the discussion a week earlier, Boyett had used the work "shoot" the man. (Tr 293). Blackman said that he

did not notify authorities of Boyett's comments because he did not believe Boyett was going to do it. (Tr 292). About 1:00 or 2:00 in the afternoon of the day of the homicide, Boyett spoke to Blackman. (Tr 288-289). Boyett said he went to the man's house, the man picked up a baseball bat so he shot him. (Tr 288-289). He said he shot him in the chest. (Tr 289). He also told Blackman that he threw the gun away (Tr 289), and he did not get any money. (Tr 289).

#### 3. Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The state called no additional witnesses during the penalty phase of the trial. (Tr 429). The defense called five witnesses. Dale's mother, father, and aunt testified. (Tr 431, 474, 487). Two clinical psychologists testified to their evaluations of Dale. (Tr 493, 528).

Dale Boyett's mother, Alice Fay Prince, testified about Dale's emotional difficulties which had been present since childhood. (Tr 431). Dale was born in February of 1974. (Tr 431-432). His mother said he cried a great deal as an infant. (Tr 432). His behavioral problems became more difficult as he grew older. (Tr 432). At 2 1/2-years-old, he finally began sleeping as much as four hours at a time. (Tr 432). She and Dale's father, William Boyett, shared the responsibilities of taking care of Dale during this time. (Tr 432). She had difficulty finding a babysitter for Dale, because he was so difficult to handle, did not sleep and cried a great deal of the time. (Tr 433). When Dale was 2 1/2-years-old, his mother awoke one night to find every light in the house on and the smell of

something burning. (Tr 433-434). Dale was out of his room. (Tr 434). The kitchen area of the house was a disaster. (Tr 434). Canisters were emptied, butcher knives were sticking in potatoes in the refrigerator, Pepto-Bismol was poured all over the floor. (Tr 434). The stove's burners were on. (Tr 434). And Dale was not inside the house. (Tr 434). She finally found Dale, dressed only in a diaper, outside in the snow. (Tr 434). Ms. Prince knew Dale needed help and scheduled an appointment with a child psychologist. (Tr 434).

The psychologist told Ms. Prince that Dale's psychological problems were such that he would be unable to learn except by cause and effect. (Tr 434-435). As he explained it, Dale could only learn not to play in the street, for example, if he in fact played in the street and was hit by a car. (Tr 435).

Shortly thereafter, the family moved to Pensacola. (Tr 435). The stress of caring for Dale had stressed the marriage. (Tr 435). Additionally, Ms. Prince continued to commute to a job in Mobile, Alabama, for a period of a year-and-a-half. (Tr 435). Bill Boyett had changed jobs and was again pursuing a career in the merchant marines. (Tr 435-436). He was gone for significant periods of time. (Tr 436). When he was at home, he was a beer drinker. (Tr 436). On one occasion, he took Dale to a neighborhood bar with him. (Tr 436). Bill Boyett apparently had difficulty being a part-time father and working at sea for significant periods of time. (Tr 437). They separated, and when Dale was 6-years-old, divorced. (Tr 437-438).

Ms. Prince became involved with another man in a relationship which lasted about a year-and-a-half. (Tr 438). He

lived in Orange Beach, Alabama, and she would take Dale to his house, which was on the water, on the weekends for visits. (Tr 439). This man identified with children very well and developed an solid relationship with Dale. (Tr 439-440). Unfortunately, the relationship ended very abruptly when he broke it off with Dale's mother. (Tr 440). He never communicated with Dale about the ending of the relationship. (Tr 440-441). Dale reacted very negatively to this abandonment. (Tr 441). Dale began wetting the bed, sleeping with the lights on again, and other troubling behavior. (Tr 441). Additionally, during this relationship, Dale had been befriended by a teenage boy who lived nearby. (Tr 441). Ms. Prince was somewhat concerned about the uncommon interest the teenager took in Dale. (Tr 441-442). But, at the time she shrugged it off. (Tr 442). Later, Dale would confide in a psychologist that the teenage boy had molested him. (Tr 537).

Ms. Prince later developed a relationship with her current husband, Howard Prince. (Tr 443). However, her husband and Dale never developed a close relationship. (Tr 443-444).

Dale's school experience was difficult and marred by constant problems. (Tr 444-445). Dale's mother enrolled him in three different private schools before she put him into public school. (Tr 445). Dale did not do well in any of the schools and started running away from home. (Tr 445). Dale was about nine-years-old at the time. (Tr 445). Dale, his mother, his father, and his stepfather all went to counseling in Pensacola with child psychologist, Dr. Ron Guy. (Tr 446). He suggested a plan whereby Dale would live with his father. (Tr 446). This was difficult, since Bill Boyett was frequently at sea. (Tr 446). Dale's mother

also began going to a parental-support group for problem children called "Tough Love". (Tr 446). It's a group that tries to teach positive behaviors, support positive behaviors, and help in controlling the children. (TR 446-447). Dale stayed with his father for a short period of time, but he then moved back with his mother. (Tr 447).

Ms. Prince, at a later time, had to relocate to Jacksonville because of a job transfer. (Tr 448). She selected an area to live that had children and good school districts to try to make things easier for Dale. (Tr 448). Dale did not adjust to the change. (Tr 448). He ran from school. (Tr 448). Ms. Prince said she would drop Dale off at the front door of the school and he would walk straight through the school and leave. (Tr 448). Dale was about 13-years-old when they moved to the Jacksonville area. (Tr 450).

One morning about 2:00 a.m., a deputy brought Dale home; he had been out on the streets at night. (Tr 449). His stepfather, Howard Prince, was provoked. (Tr 449). He had confrontation with Dale and threatened him. (Tr 449). Dale reacted and gave his mother an ultimatum that either he would leave or his stepfather would have to leave. (Tr 449). Dale's mother helped Dale pack his clothes and drove him to Pensacola to live with his father. (Tr 450).

Dale began running away from his father's house as well. (Tr 450). On a Mother's Day weekend, Ms. Prince went to Pensacola to see Dale, as well as her mother who lived in the area. (Tr 450). Dale called her. (Tr 450). He asked if she would come and get him. (Tr 451). She picked Dale up. (Tr 451). This was the

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