FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

DEC 1 1995

MATHEW DALE BOYETT,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deptity Clark

v.

Case No.: 81,971

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellee, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the lower court, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Appellant, MATHEW DALE BOYETT, the defendant in the lower court, will be referred to in this brief as Boyett. All references to the instant record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R," and references to the transcripts by the symbol "T." All references will be followed by the appropriate page numbers in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts Boyett's statement of the case and facts as reasonably accurate.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: The trial court did not err in failing to secure Boyett's presence at the physical site where counsel exercised juror challenges. Because Coney did not issue until two years after the instant trial, no error occurred as Boyett was physically present in the courtroom where counsel exercised their challenges.

Issue II: The trial court correctly found that Boyett committed the instant murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The state proved this factor beyond a reasonable doubt with evidence of Boyett's six week planning period, statements to the victim and a friend, and the manner in which the murder was committed.

Issue III: The trial court correctly considered and weighed the statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. Within its discretion, the trial court found inapplicable two statutory mitigating circumstances -- age and extreme mental or emotional disturbance -- because (1) Boyett was not a minor at the time and had no other accompanying condition, and (2) there was no evidence that Boyett suffered from any disturbance at the time committed the murder. trial court found The nonstatutory mitigating factors -- long term substance abuse; childhood sexual abuse; good behavior in custody;

accompanying condition, and (2) there was no evidence that Boyett suffered from any disturbance at the time he committed the murder. The trial court found five nonstatutory mitigating factors -- long term substance abuse; childhood sexual abuse; good behavior in custody; remorse; and potential for rehabilitation -- but in light of the significant aggravating factors, justifiably gave them little weight.

Issue IV: The trial court properly overrode the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. Because the facts supporting the two aggravating circumstances were so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ, the trial court properly imposed a sentence of death.

Issue V: The trial court properly permitted the state to file its sentencing memorandum seven days after Boyett filed his sentencing memorandum. Because Boyett was permitted to respond to the state's memorandum, Boyett can show no error, harm, or prejudice.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SECURE BOYETT'S PRESENCE AT THE PHYSICAL SITE WHERE COUNSEL EXERCISED JUROR CHALLENGES.

Boyett claims that the trial court erred in failing to have him present at the bench where counsel exercised their cause and peremptory challenges. Initial Brief at 28. Because the ruling in Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), did not issue until two years after Boyett's trial, the trial court committed no error on this point as Boyett was physically present in the courtroom where counsel exercised their challenges.

The record shows that Boyett was present in the courtroom during jury selection (T 6). After some questioning of the venire, the trial court asked the lawyers to come to the bench (T 185). A bench conference off the record ensued, followed by the state's exercise of a cause challenge as to Linda Mitchell (T 186). The state then requested additional questioning of Ms. Allers as to her views on the death penalty (T 188). After this additional questioning, the state exercised a peremptory challenge as to Mr. Bleckwenn (T 190). Defense counsel engaged in some

 $^{^{1}}$ Mitchell worked as an intern at the Public Defender's Office (T 185).

additional questioning of jurors, and then struck peremptorily Ms. Gaines, Francis Smith, Patricia Looney, Mary Schwartz, Mr. Ford, Mr. Scully, and Mrs. Hendry (T 191-92). The state struck Ms. Cupp for cause (T 193).

Defense counsel asked some additional questions of jurors (T 193-95), and then both sides tendered (T 195). As to alternate jurors, the state challenged Ms. Green for cause based on her views regarding the death penalty (T 195). The state then inquired further of jurors (T 196-97). Defense counsel exercised a challenge on Mr. Hourigan, and the state challenged Mr. Johnson for cause based on his views regarding the death penalty (T 197).

Although the record clearly shows that Boyett was in the courtroom and that the court called only the attorneys to the bench for an off-the-record conference, the record does not clearly reflect that Boyett was not present at the following bench conference concerning challenges. Under Florida law, it is Boyett's responsibility to make error apparent from the record. Conley v. State, 338 So. 2d 541, 542 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). This he has failed to do.

In any event, Boyett cannot rely on <u>Coney</u>, which did not issue until January 5, 1995. The trial in this case

Cupp admitted to a second degree murder conviction, for which she served five of a twelve year sentence (T 75).

took place in February 1993. Coney itself speaks very plainly that its ruling "is prospective only." Id. at 1013. Boyett nevertheless claims that the only prospective portion of Coney is that section which requires the trial court to certify a defendant's acquiescence of the strikes and the voluntariness of the waiver. Initial Brief at 30 n.2. A complete reading of Coney belies this cursory claim, as this Court itself noted that Coney "clarified" previous case law on this point.

Boyett claims that, because his is a "pipeline case," State v. Brown, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S206 (Fla. May 4, 1995), and Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), require this Court to apply the prospective portion of Coney to his Boyett apparently has case. Initial Brief at 30 n.2. overlooked Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), wherein this Court noted that Smith could "be read to mean that any new rule of law announced by this Court always must be given retrospective application." Id. at 1007 n.4. Court observed that such a reading of Smith would be inconsistent with a number intervening cases, and οf "We read Smith to mean that new points of law concluded: established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise." Id. at 1008 n.4 (emphasis supplied). Coney "says otherwise," Coney does not apply retrospectively to Boyett.

Boyett next argues that the <u>Coney</u> rule existed prior to <u>Coney</u>'s issuance, namely in <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Initial Brief at 30 n.2. This statement is inaccurate, as this Court observed in <u>Coney</u> that <u>Coney</u> actually clarified the holding in <u>Francis</u>. Further, <u>Francis</u> involved the exercise of challenges while counsel and the judge were outside the courtroom and Francis was in the courtroom, and counsel's waiver of Francis's presence without Francis's acquiescence to such waiver. This Court held:

Francis was not questioned as to his understanding of his right to be present during his counsel's exercise of his peremptory challenges. The record does affirmatively demonstrate Francis knowingly waived this right or that he acquiesced in his counsel's actions after counsel and judge returned to the courtroom upon selecting a jury. His silence, when his counsel and others retired to the jury room or when they returned after the selection process, did not constitute a waiver of his right.

413 So. 2d at 1178. Notably, nowhere in <u>Francis</u> is any reference to Francis's right to be present at the actual physical site where the challenges were exercised. Instead, the concern was that Francis, at a minimum, be in the same room as counsel for the exercise of peremptory challenges:

Being in a separate room prevented Francis from ready

availability to and meaningful "consult[ation] with his counsel during the time his peremptory challenges were exercised." Id. at 1179.

Likewise, in <u>Turner</u>, the judge and counsel removed themselves from the courtroom for the exercise of juror challenges, and left Turner in the courtroom. Because no one informed Turner of his right to be present during challenges, this Court held that Turner had not knowingly waived this right. <u>Id.</u> at 49. However, this Court found Turner's absence harmless, based on his interaction with counsel before the exercise of challenges, which gave Turner "an opportunity to participate in choosing which jurors would be stricken from the panel." <u>Id.</u>

Thus, the only rule which existed prior to <u>Coney</u> was that a defendant should be present in the room where the challenges are being exercised. If a defendant were not present in the room, there should be a knowing waiver of this right on the record through proper inquiry by the trial court, or, in the alternative, a subsequent ratification of the strikes by the defendant.

In any event, <u>Coney</u> by its own terms renders any violation of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180 harmless as to those cause challenges exercised because of jurors' views on the death penalty. Id. These excusals "involve[] a legal issue

toward which [Boyett] would have had no basis for input."

Harvey v. State, 529 So. 2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1988), cert.

denied, 489 U.S. 1040 (1989). Thus, any error in the trial

court's granting of the state's strikes of Green and Johnson

was harmless.

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT BOYETT COMMITTED THE INSTANT MURDER IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

Boyett claims that the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the instant murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated (CCP) manner according to the standards announced by this Court in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994), and <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994). To the contrary, the evidence presented during sentencing established this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

Debra Sherwood testified that the victim walked across the street, leaning on a baseball bat, and told her that he had been shot (T 230). The victim was bleeding profusely from his mouth; even though the victim said he had been shot in the arm, Sherwood noticed very little blood in that area (T 230). The victim stated that Dale Boyett shot him and that Boyett was still in the victim's home for the purpose of robbing him (T 231-32). Beverly Solomonic also saw the victim crossing the street, leaning on a baseball bat, and spitting up blood (T 234). Solomonic heard the victim say that Dale Boyett had shot him (T 237).

Deputy Sheriff Wehmeiter testified that, when he arrived on the scene, he witnessed the victim bleeding from

his mouth (T 240). The victim informed Wehmeiter that Dale Boyett had shot him and tried to rob him (T 240). The victim was concerned about dying, pointing to what he perceived as pieces of his lung in blood that he spit up (T 241).

Deputy Sheriff Powell testified that Officer Scherer located Boyett's truck off Chimes Way and found Boyett in a trailer off Chimes Way (T 245). Powell was present when Boyett was read his rights; Boyett appeared to understand these rights (T 246). When advised that officers needed to discuss some things with him, Boyett stated that he knew they needed to question him about "that guy named Bill I shot today" (T 246). Boyett advised Powell that the victim had made sexual advances toward him and touched him on the outside of his clothes, and that these behaviors had upset him (T 247). Boyett also advised that, on a previous occasion, he had been drinking at the victim's house, had passed out, and had awakened to find the victim performing oral sex on him (T 248). Boyett advised that he and the victim previously had had a fight with one another, one using a whiskey bottle and the other, some type of sword (T Boyett helped officers retrieve the weapon Boyett used to shoot the victim (T 249, 254).

Deputy Sheriff Suarez testified that one bullet recovered from the victim's home had struck only the

fireplace; the other bullet was recovered from the victim's body (T 254). Suarez recounted that he had taken into evidence several of the victim's videotapes, all of which contained homosexual material, and some photographs with the same content (T 258-59).

Dr. Larzarchick testified that the bullet found in the victim's body travelled from the victim's right bicep into the arm pit, deflected off the bony structures in the right shoulder region, and entered the right lung cavity (T 263, The bullet travelled further, ricochetting off the back bone to reenter the lung (T 265). The path of the bullet destroyed a number of major blood vessels in the right shoulder region, "thereby accounting for an extensive amount of hemorrhage into that area"; the bullet "disrupted and essentially [] cut the major blood vessels which supply blood to the lung" (T 266). Dr. Larzarchick explained that a severing of the pulmonary and bronchial arteries would cause continuous internal bleeding if not repaired, and could have caused the victim's death within minutes (T 267). In the emergency room alone, the victim lost 30-40% of his total blood volume (T 268). Dr. Larzarchick opined that Boyett was at least three to four feet away from the victim when he shot (T 272).

FDLE firearms expert Ed Love testified that the gun was fired from beyond three to four feet (T 277).

John Blackmon testified that he had known Boyett for about three to four months before the murder (T 283). a week before the murder, Boyett asked Blackmon if he wanted to see the home of the guy he was going to shoot (T 285). Boyett told Blackmon the victim was a "homo" that he was going to rob, and that he had had a "run in" with the victim A day before the murder, Boyett asked 285, 288). Blackmon if he wanted to help him shoot the victim and get some money (T 286); Boyett showed Blackmon a small .22 revolver and said he was going to kill the victim with it (T 286-87). Boyett returned to Blackmon's home after shooting the victim, stating that the victim picked up a baseball bat and Boyett shot him (T 289). Boyett stated that the victim had no money and that he ditched the gun (T 289). Blackmon recalled that, about a month and a half before the murder, Boyett showed him a cut on his arm and stated that three black guys had jumped him (T 290).4

Deputy Sheriff Tom O'Neil testified that, before giving a statement, Boyett stated that "he was under the influence of no narcotics, alcohol, marijuana, anything" (T 299). Boyett's statement recounted that Boyett entered the victim's home through an unlocked back door, told the victim that he was going to shoot him because of the victim's

Boyett told his father that two black guys had jumped him and given him this injury (T 320-21).

previous homosexual activities toward Boyett,⁵ and shot him with a .22 pistol (T 303-04). Boyett stated that the reason he went to the victim's house that day was to shoot him (T 304). While Boyett had the gun pointed at the victim, the victim picked up a baseball bat (T 307). Boyett told him not to do this or he would shoot him; the victim picked up the bat, and Boyett fired at the victim's leg, but missed (T 307). When the victim advanced toward Boyett, Boyett fired again, aiming at the victim's chest (T 307). The victim ran out the back door and went to the side gate; Boyett jumped over the back fence and stayed in the woods for a couple of hours (T 307).

Boyett stated that the gun was in the woods behind the victim's house (T 307). Boyett stated that he had been over to the victim's home half a dozen times or more within the previous six month period (T 309). Boyett recounted only two occasions that the victim had made advances:

Now, the first time he made a pass at me I told him to stop, but he kept grabbing my leg and we had a fight in which I had a liquor bottle and he had a sword. And I called him the very next day because we were both drunk that night and I figured, you know, he realized he shouldn't have done it and I shouldn't have done it and I shouldn't have done it and all that. But the next

According to Boyett, the victim "would put his hands on [him] and grab [his] dick and stuff" on the outside of his clothes (T 307-08).

time I went over there, he did it again and I told him to stop and if he didn't stop, that I was going to kill him. And he didn't stop. So I left, and that was the last time I saw him until today.

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